STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Dorchester County
James E. Lockemy, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

APR 30 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

MARION BOWMAN,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-213468

AMENDED PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

MICHAEL J. ANZELMO, *pro bono*

NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH, LLP
Meridian, 17th Floor
1320 Main Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 255-9589

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

1.

Whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance, in derogation of the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by failing to investigate and prepare for the impeachment of Taiwan Gadson and by failing to impeach the testimony of Taiwan Gadson in any meaningful way, including, but not limited to, the fact that the state threatened Gadson with the death penalty in his plea agreement, how Gadson's prior inconsistent statements showed that his story changed, and the fact Gadson had access to the murder weapon?

2.

Whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance, in derogation of the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by failing to investigate and prepare for the impeachment of Travis Felder and by failing to impeach the testimony of Travis Felder in any meaningful way, including impeaching Felder with a videotape that would have shown Felder lied to the jury about buying the gas to burn the decedent's car, impeaching Felder on bias with his original charges, and impeaching Felder with his prior inconsistent statements?

3.

Whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance, in derogation of the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by failing to investigate and prepare for the impeachment Hiram Johnson and by failing to impeach the testimony of Hiram Johnson by cross-examining Johnson on his prior inconsistent statement which, critically, did not include his allegation at trial that petitioner confessed to the murder?

4.

Whether petitioner is entitled to a new trial because the state withheld information necessary for impeachment and necessary for defense in violation of petitioner's due process rights under the Fourteenth Amendment and under the rules of discovery, those items being a memorandum of a law enforcement interview with Ricky Davis who heard Gadson confess to the murder, Gadson's mental health evaluation, and the fact that Hiram Johnson had unindicted pending charges at the time of his testimony?

5.

Whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel because counsel had a conflict of interest between two of her clients -- Petitioner Bowman and Ricky Davis --that caused counsel to fail to call Ricky Davis as a witness, despite Davis' statement that exculpated Petitioner Bowman and established Gadson shot the victim?

6.

Whether defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the solicitor's examination of James Aiken regarding favorable prison conditions and recreational facilities available to inmates since this Court had long ago in *State v. Plath*, 281 S.C. 1, 313 S.E.2d 619 (1984), held such evidence was impermissible because it did not relate to the character of the defendant or the nature of his crime. This evidence was highly prejudicial in the eyes of the jury, and the failure to object to it properly at trial also barred consideration of this winning issue on petitioner's direct appeal?

7.

Whether petitioner's rights under the Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and under state law were violated because the trial judge failed to properly consider his application as evidenced by the PCR court's wholesale adoption of the state's proposed order?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The state's key witnesses against Petitioner Marion Bowman at trial were James Gadson, Travis Felder and Hiram Johnson. Superficially, the case presented through these witnesses by the solicitor appeared rather straightforward. As will be seen infra powerful impeaching evidence against each of these three witnesses existed that defense counsel did not use because of incompetence or because the solicitor withheld impeaching evidence from them.

The state's theory at trial was that petitioner and the decedent, Kandee Martin¹, were friends. Gadson testified that on the day decedent was shot he had been drinking gin for most of the day, and he was "feeling in good shape." App. 3992, l. 11 – 3993, l. 25. Gadson said he was with petitioner and the decedent that evening. The decedent was driving. They went to the Horizon E-Z shop where they pumped gas, and then drove away without paying. App. 3994, l. 3 – 3995, l. 2.

Gadson claimed petitioner told the decedent where to drive and that she drove onto Nursery Road. "She stopped, cut the car off, cut the lights off, we got out." App. 3995, ll. 3-21.

Gadson maintained petitioner walked away from the car and that petitioner said he was going to kill the decedent "because she was wearing a wire." App. 3998, l. 4 – 3999, l. 3. Gadson testified that a car drove by and they "jumped in the woods." App. 3999, ll. 16-21.

After the vehicle passed by, the decedent started walking back to the car and petitioner followed her. Gadson claimed he heard a gunshot and saw the decedent running back towards him. Gadson claimed petitioner shot at the decedent two times and "she fell to the ground," then petitioner dragged her body into the woods. App. 4001, l. 5 – 4012, l. 24.

¹ Kandee is also spelled "Candee" in other places in the record. For ease of reference she is consistently referred to as "Kandee."

Later that night Gadson went to the Allen Murray Club with petitioner, Hiram Johnson, and another man in the decedent's car. Hiram Johnson would later testify that petitioner was trying to sell the decedent's car at the Allen Murray Club late that night. App. 4017, l. 4 – 4018, l. 17; App. 4067, ll. 3-20.

The state presented evidence that Travis Felder was with petitioner when petitioner burned the decedent's car. Felder claimed that petitioner came to the Villa Apartments and told him "I need to park this car." Felder testified that he only followed petitioner while petitioner drove the decedent's automobile to Nursery Road. App. 4092, l. 6 – 4096, l. 19.

Felder maintained when they arrived at Nursery Road, petitioner pulled the decedent's dead body out of the woods, put it in the trunk, and set the car on fire. App. 4096, l. 13 – 4100, l. 14.

Hiram Johnson's role during the trial was to testify that petitioner was trying to sell the decedent's car that evening, and that on the way back from the Allen Murray Club petitioner told him: "I killed Kandee, heh, heh, heh." Johnson claimed petitioner had a gun in his lap at the time. App. 4067, l. 25 – 4068, l. 18.

Marva Hardee-Thomas, ("Thomas") who is presently suspended from the practice of law by this Court, represented petitioner along with Norbert Cummings ("Cummings"). Thomas later acknowledged during PCR that she did not know what the guilt phase strategy was, and she referred any questions about it to Cummings. As to the penalty phase strategy she again stated: "You're going to have to ask Mr. Cummings." App. 7307, l. 5 – 7308, l. 10; App. 7325, ll. 6-23. The defense's mitigation investigator and social work expert testified they had no idea what the strategy was for the penalty phase. App. 6962, ll. 3-7; App. 6786, ll. 7-23. Thomas even wrote a letter to the jail, while she was a Dorchester County Public Defender, stating petitioner could call the Public

Defender's Office collect between "8:45 - 9:00" "concerning his capital case" but she added "[h]e is not allowed to contact me on a daily basis." App. 9170.

At the time Thomas represented petitioner, as will be seen infra, she also had an attorney-client relationship with Ricky Davis. Davis wrote a statement in 2001 that Gadson had confessed to Davis that he killed the decedent. In this statement Davis said Gadson admitted or bragged: "[T]hat he was the one that shot the girl and gave Petitioner the gun that was used and he said it didn't matter because Black [petitioner's nickname] family had got caught with the gun [anyway]." App. 8966.

As will be seen infra, Thomas candidly admitted a conflict of interest existed in her representation of both petitioner and Davis. Thomas explained the dual representation had her "trying to help Mr. Bowman but not hurt my aspect with Mr. Davis because I still had an ethical responsibility with him also." App. 7330, l. 18 – 7333, l. 6.

The defense failed to call Davis as a witness during petitioner's trial even though Davis was brought to the courthouse. Thomas did not remember even discussing Ricky Davis with petitioner, much less detailing the former attorney-client relationship she had with Davis to petitioner. App. 7294, l. 11 – 7296, l. 18. As will also be seen infra, Davis, after leaving the jail and when he was away from petitioner and Gadson, gave an additional statement to Solicitor Bailey's investigator, Sam Richardson, in which Davis stated that Gadson confessed in jail to "killing a girl." Davis told Richardson that petitioner never admitted shooting anyone, but Davis said Gadson later went back on his confession and claimed Petitioner shot her. App. 9122.

This statement was not turned over to the defense prior to trial. Bailey first tried to claim this statement was subject to the "attorney-client privilege." He then attempted to characterize the Richardson memorandum as work product. App. 7860, l. 12 – 7879, l. 18.

Solicitor Bailey also admitted he did not provide the defense with Gadson's mental health evaluation, and trial counsel Cummings confirmed he never received it. This report stated that Gadson reported hearing "voices" and "a little beeping noise." The report also recorded the fact that Gadson's testing showed he had memory problems which was not unusual given his admission of smoking "six blunts of cannabis on a daily basis." App. 8960.

As seen above, Travis Felder testified during petitioner's trial that he went to the crime scene and saw petitioner pull the decedent's dead body out of the woods, put her body in the trunk, and set the decedent's car on fire. During the PCR hearing testimony was adduced to show that Cummings failed to impeach Felder's story at trial, and he also failed to impeach Felder with the fact that Felder faced and feared the death penalty if he violated his plea agreement at the time of his trial testimony. Cummings admitted he knew at the time Felder testified during the state's case-in-chief that Felder purchased gasoline alone at the E-Z shop prior to the decedent's car being set on fire. Cummings had watched the videotape of Felder purchasing the gasoline with petitioner. Yet he did not impeach Felder with this serious omission where Felder claimed he was just a bystander. App. 7017, l. 15 – 7021, l. 21.

After petitioner had been convicted of murder, Cummings called Felder as a witness during the sentencing phase, when guilt was no longer an issue, to testify that he did purchase the gasoline that evening. When Felder was asked why he did not tell the jury that fact earlier, he told the solicitor: "You didn't ask." App. 4925, ll. 17-25.

When Felder was interviewed by the police he denied any knowledge of the decedent's murder. App. 6381, l. 17 – 6384, l. 16. After Felder was charged with murder and arson in 2001, he hired Charles Williams as his attorney. During plea negotiations, Felder's attorney sent a proffer letter to Solicitor Bailey. The proffer letter omitted both the fact that Felder bought the gasoline that

evening, and his claim that he saw petitioner put the decedent's body in the trunk of the car. App. 6384, l. 25 – 6390, l. 6; App. 9118.

At the PCR hearing, Cummings testified that he did not find out about Felder “cutting a deal” until just before the trial. The plea agreement allowed the solicitor to reinstate all of Felder's charges and seek the maximum penalty [death], “*and the defendant hereby waives any objection to the state seeking of the maximum penalty*” if Felder did not tell the “absolute truth.” App. 8971. (emphasis added). Cummings apologized at PCR for not cross-examining Felder on the issue of Felder of his sentencing exposure of death or life imprisonment, particularly where Felder never even went to prison. App. 7029, l. 10 – 7034, l. 25. Cummings also apologized for not impeaching Felder with his prior inconsistent statements and omissions. App. 7045, ll. 1-10.

As seen, Hiram Johnson testified at trial that petitioner confessed to him that he “killed Kandee, heh, heh, heh.” However, the jury never learned Johnson was a biased witness because of his pending charges -- from the same solicitor's office – that were not disclosed by Solicitor Bailey. App. 4068, ll. 4-18. Further, at the PCR hearing it was revealed that nowhere in Hiram Johnson's earlier statement to Detective Coker on April 5, 2001, did he claim Petitioner said “I killed Kandee, heh, heh, heh.” App. 9054. Johnson belatedly testified at PCR he thought petitioner was kidding when he said he killed the decedent, but he did not tell the jury during his testimony he thought petitioner was kidding. App. 6290, l. 10 – 6298, l. 10.

As will also be seen *infra*, Defense Counsel Cummings mistakenly thought that the penalty phase of petitioner's trial could focus on whether life imprisonment was really a harsh punishment or whether inmates lived rather relaxing lives in prison. Cummings reacted sarcastically when told that this Court had long held such evidence was improper: “Isn't that nice of them, but how else do

you argue about somebody having a chance to live in prison? I mean, I don't argue academically." App. 7449, l. 21 – 7450, l. 22.

When asked a question about the aggravating circumstance of kidnapping Cummings responded with a lecture to the petitioner:

Mr. Cummings: I want to say this out loud and with Marion [present], what are you doing on Nursery Road at that time of the morning with a white female and African American males in Dorchester County? Really. This is 2001 but what good are you doing out there on a dirt road? Okay. And we have all the homeowners calling us saying they heard shots, then they come out and they find a burning car. So, that's the way this thing portrayed. The fire department comes out, as you know. I have read this file backward and forward. If he's there he's a principal, if he's in the car. If he's not there, how does all these facts get known, how are all these facts to be told?

App. 7126, ll. 7-25.

ARGUMENT

1.

Trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance, in derogation of the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by failing to investigate and prepare for the impeachment of Taiwan Gadson and by failing to impeach the testimony of Taiwan Gadson in any meaningful way, including, but not limited to, the fact that the state threatened Gadson with the death penalty in his plea agreement, how Gadson's prior inconsistent statements showed that his story changed, and the fact Gadson had access to the murder weapon.

Introduction

Taiwan Gadson ("Gadson") was the chief witness against petitioner at the trial. Gadson claimed that he witnessed petitioner shoot the decedent and drag her body into the woods. App. 4011, l. 20 – 4012, l. 2. Gadson's version of events went essentially unchallenged by the defense. The jury never heard that Gadson gave inconsistent statements to the police, that he had previously fired the pistol the state alleged was the murder weapon, and that Gadson was threatened with the death penalty. Had trial counsel not been ineffective and impeached Gadson with this information, there is a reasonable probability that Gadson would not have been believed and the outcome of the trial would have been different.

1. What the Jury Heard at Trial from Gadson

In order to understand the vast importance of any evidence that could be used to impeach Gadson, it is important to understand the centrality of his testimony to the state's case. Without Gadson, the state had very little evidence against petitioner.

At the time of his testimony, Gadson was twenty-three years old. App. 3980, ll. 8 – 9. He had lived in Branchville his whole life. App. 3980, ll. 12 – 13. He was in jail at the time of his

testimony. App. 3980, ll. 19 – 21. The state initially charged him with the decedent’s murder. App. 3980, ll. 22 – 24.

Gadson testified that the first time he saw petitioner on the day of the murder was early that morning. App. 3983, ll. 13 – 16. Petitioner was in the car with his sister, Yolanda Bowman, on their way to a meat market in St. George. App. 3983, ll. 17 – 21. Gadson went with Yolanda Bowman and petitioner to the meat market. App. 3984, ll. 2 – 3. Afterwards, they returned to Branchville to petitioner's house. App. 3984, ll. 14 – 17. Petitioner came out of the house “with a little limp.” App. 3984, ll. 18 – 25. Petitioner said he was walking that way because he had a gun in his pants and the gun was cold. App. 3985, ll. 1 – 9. Gadson saw the gun. App. 3985, ll. 10 – 12. Petitioner had a beer and a bag, took the beer out of the bag and put the gun in it. App. 3985, ll. 10 – 15.

Gadson claimed that he was with petitioner when petitioner purchased the gun. App. 3985, ll. 21 – 24. According to Gadson, petitioner purchased the gun approximately two weeks before the murder. App. 3986, ll. 1 – 3. The gun was a gray and black .380 High Point automatic pistol. App. 3986, ll. 6 – 8. Petitioner bought the gun from a “dude in Orangeburg.” App. 3986, ll. 12 – 13. A gun, state’s Exhibit 42, looked the same to Gadson as the one petitioner had on the day of the murder. App. 3987, ll. 5 – 10. Gadson never said anything about Felder being present when petitioner supposedly bought this gun. App. 3985, l. 19 – 3986, l. 25. Trial counsel failed to point out this inconsistency. App. 4101, ll. 9 – 15.

Yolanda Bowman then took them to the Villa Apartments in Branchville. App. 3987, ll. 11 – 25. They went to Hank Koger's house and started drinking. App. 3988, ll. 1 – 12. Gadson saw petitioner put his gun in a trash barrel. App. 3988, ll. 18 – 20. After petitioner returned from the store, petitioner started an argument with him about the gun. App. 3989, ll. 4 – 8. The

argument ended when Hiram Johnson retrieved the gun from nearby woods. App. 3989, ll. 16 – 20.

Gadson's claims about the gun at Hank Koger's house conflicted with the testimony of Hiram Johnson. Johnson testified that he hid the gun at Katrina West's house. App. 4060, ll. 5 – 8. Johnson testified that petitioner went to Katrina West's house, got his gun, and came back to Koger's house. App. 4060, ll. 12 – 19. Trial counsel failed to point out this inconsistency to the jury.

Gadson remained at Hank Koger's house. App. 3990, ll. 16 – 18. He next saw petitioner at approximately 7:30 PM. App. 3990, ll. 19 – 23. Petitioner was in the decedent's car. App. 3991, ll. 4 – 7. The decedent was driving. App. 3991, ll. 23 – 24. Gadson described her car as a "green Ford Escort." App. 3991, ll. 13 – 14. Petitioner supposedly called Gadson over and told him to get in the car. App. 3992, ll. 4 – 10. Gadson had been drinking gin and beer since 1:00 PM. App. 3992, l. 20 – 3993, l. 20. Gadson admitted he had drunk "a good little bit" of gin and "about five" beers. App. 3993, ll. 2 – 20. Gadson was intoxicated and "feeling in good shape." App. 3993, ll. 21 – 25.

Gadson got in the backseat of the decedent's car and they went to the Horizon EZ Shop. App. 3994, ll. 3 – 7. They stole some gasoline. App. 3994, ll. 8 – 11. They left the store and the decedent drove them down Highway 78. App. 3994, ll. 12 – 14. Petitioner was telling the decedent where to turn. App. 3994, ll. 19 – 24. They eventually made their way to Nursery Road where petitioner told her to turn around near a yellow road sign. App. 3995, ll. 7 – 15. The decedent stopped the car, turned off the ignition, turned off the lights, and they all got out of the car. App. 3995, ll. 18 – 21. Gadson later changed this version and said that it was only he and petitioner who got out of the car. App. 3997, ll. 17 – 19.

Gadson and petitioner walked down the road while the decedent stayed in the car. App. 3997, l. 20 – 3998, l. 3. On this walk, petitioner told Gadson “he was going to kill her because she was wearing a wire.” App. 3998, ll. 4 – 7. The decedent came down the road and grabbed petitioner by his right arm and told him she was scared. App. 3998, ll. 14 – 17. A car came by and they “jumped off in the woods.” App. 3999, ll. 11 – 13.

The decedent left the woods and started towards her car. App. 3999, l. 23 – 4000, l. 2. Petitioner followed the decedent down the road. App. 4000, ll. 5 – 9. Gadson stayed at the spot where they jumped into the woods. App. 4000, ll. 21 – 22. Gadson next saw “three fires come from a gun” and heard gunshots. App. 4001, ll. 5 – 13.

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