STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

RECEIVED

MAY - 6 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

Appeal from DORCHESTER County  
James E. Lockemy, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2012-213468

---

MARION BOWMAN,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

---

AMENDED RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. MCINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

S. CREIGHTON WATERS  
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ALPHONSO SIMON JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
South Carolina Attorney General's Office  
PO Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

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

Felder, he saw it was the victim when Petitioner put her body in the trunk. (App. 4097). He testified that Petitioner admitted that he killed the victim. (App. 4098). He also observed Petitioner set the car on fire. (App. 4100). The victim's watch was recovered from Petitioner's pants pocket when he was arrested. (App. 4126-30; 4164-65). Petitioner's family got rid of the gun that was used in the murder. (App. 4177, 4185-87). The gun they threw in the Edisto River was conclusively matched the five of the casings at the murder scene. (App. 4315). Also, Petitioner's DNA was found in the victim at the scene. (App. 4381). As already noted, the impact of introducing evidence of this shooting would at best be minimal. Thus, Petitioner did not establish that the result at trial would have been different had counsel introduced the evidence regarding Gadson's use of Petitioner's gun at a prior shooting. As a result, the PCR Court properly dismissed this claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

Respondent would submit that to the extent Petitioner asserts the PCR Court erred in denying relief upon a claim that counsel was ineffective for not impeaching Gadson with his inconsistent statements is not preserved for appellate review and is barred from consideration on certiorari. The PCR Court did not rule upon an ineffective assistance of counsel claim regarding Gadson's inconsistent statements. Since this claim was not ruled upon in the PCR Court, it was not preserved for review for this Court. Plyler v. State, 309 S.C. 408, 424 S.E.2d 777 (1992) (issue must be both raised and ruled upon by the PCR Court to be preserved for appellate review); Rule 59(e), SCRPC (providing avenue for any party to move to alter or amend judgment); see Bostick v. Stevenson, 589 F.3d 160, 164 (4th Cir. 2009) (acknowledging same applied consistently and regularly in South Carolina after Marlar v. State, 375 S.C. 407, 653 S.E.2d 266 (2007)). Similarly, to

the extent Petitioner contends the PCR Court erred regarding his investigation into impeachment evidence for Gadson, the claim was not ruled upon by the PCR Court or raised by Petitioner in his Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment.

**II. Petitioner is not entitled to a writ of certiorari in regards to the three issues raised regarding trial counsel's handling of Travis Felder as a witness; the PCR Court's denial of relief upon these three claims is supported by the record.**

In Petitioner's second set of claims in his Petition, he asserts trial counsel was ineffective in failing to impeach Travis Felder, one of Petitioner's friends who was also charged in the case and who testified against Petitioner at trial. Petitioner specifically claims counsel should have impeached Felder during the guilt phase with the video of Felder purchasing the gasoline used to burn the victim in her car. Further, Petitioner alleges counsel should have impeached Felder with the fact that at one point in time during the investigation of Petitioner's case, Felder was charged with the murder. The PCR Court correctly denied relief upon these claims

**a. The PCR Court's denial of relief on claim that counsel was ineffective for not impeaching Felder about the gasoline purchase during the guilt phase was supported by the record.**

Petitioner asserts the PCR Court erred in finding that counsel was not ineffective when he did not impeach Felder during the guilt phase regarding the fact that Felder was the one who purchased the gasoline used in the burning of the victim's car and victim's body. The PCR Court's denial of relief was supported by the record.

Defense counsel did testify that they received a copy of the video surveillance from the EZ Horizon convenience store. (App. 7663-65; see App. 9381). At the PCR hearing, Cummings testified that he did not want the video of Felder purchasing the

gasoline coming into evidence. (App. 7006). While counsel did not know why the State had not entered the video into evidence, he indicated he did not want the tape in evidence during the guilt phase because he felt it would corroborate Petitioner's involvement in the plan to burn the car.<sup>1</sup> Id. Cummings also testified that the entry of the video into evidence during the sentencing phase was done at Petitioner's insistence and was not in line with his strategy. (See App. 7020). This testimony was also confirmed during Cummings' cross-examination and was supported by the trial record. (App. 7020-21; see App. 4911-26; see also App. 4622-24). Felder did testify in the sentencing phase that he purchased the gasoline after being instructed to do so by Petitioner. (App. 4916-24). Felder also testified that Petitioner provided the gas jug to be used in the purchase. Id. As found by the PCR Court, trial counsel did articulate a valid, reasonable strategic reason for not wanting to present the video during the guilt phase of Petitioner's trial. As a result, the PCR Court was reasonable in denying relief upon this claim. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689 (reasonable trial strategy is not basis for ineffective assistance); Sexton v. French, 163 F.3d 874, 887 (4th Cir. 1998) (tactical decision cannot be second-guessed by court reviewing a collateral attack); Fitzgerald v. Thompson, 943 F.2d 463 (4th Cir. 1991) (tactical decision sustainable unless it is both incompetent and prejudicial).

---

<sup>1</sup> The testimony referred to by Petitioner in this claim does not reflect counsel did not have a strategic reason for not cross-examining Felder about purchasing the gasoline during the guilt phase. The testimony reflects that at that point in time during the evidentiary hearing, counsel could not remember his thought process during the trial regarding the issue. He had previously testified during the course of the same evidentiary hearing (during his examination over two months prior to this particular questioning) that he did not want the evidence presented to the jury, and the only reason he introduced it was at Petitioner's insistence. (App. 7006). Counsel further noted the introduction of the video was not consistent with his strategy. (App. 7020).

Further, Petitioner's contention that he was prejudiced was not supported by the record. First, Petitioner had not presented any evidence to support his contention that Felder's omission that he was the one who purchased the gasoline indicated Felder was involved in the murder of Kandee Martin. There was no credible evidence linking Felder to the murder of Kandee Martin; in fact, the only evidence to support such a contention was Petitioner's first statement to law enforcement. Second, Felder's testimony regarding the omission during the sentencing phase and during the PCR hearing clearly shows that cross-examination on this issue during the guilt phase would have done nothing to exculpate Petitioner from being a participant in the arson. To the contrary, Felder's testimony clearly indicated that Bowman was highly involved in the arson. At trial, Felder indicated Petitioner was the one who requested he purchase the gasoline. (App. 4923-24). He testified similarly at the PCR hearing. (App. 6429-30). Third, the result at trial would not have been different but for trial counsel's alleged deficiency because there was overwhelming evidence of Petitioner's guilt in both the murder and the arson. Several witnesses, including one of Petitioner's sisters, testified they observed Petitioner threaten to kill the victim on the day of the murder. (App. 3726, 3739-3744, 3764-66). Gadson saw Petitioner shoot the victim. (App. 4000-02). According to Gadson, the victim begged Petitioner not to shoot her again, but he shot her two more times. (App. 4012). Petitioner then dragged her body into the woods. Id. Gadson later rode with Petitioner, Hiram Johnson, and Darian Williams to the Allen Murray Club in the victim's car. (App. 4018). They all wore gloves. Id. Hiram Johnson testified that Petitioner said he stole the victim's car and he made everyone wear gloves. (App. 4065). He also testified that he heard Petitioner admit to he killed the victim. (App. 4068). The

victim's watch was recovered from Petitioner's pants pocket when he was arrested. (App. 4126-30; 4164-65). Petitioner's family got rid of the gun that was used in the murder. (App. 4177, 4185-86). The gun they threw in the Edisto River was conclusively matched the five of the casings at the murder scene. (App. 4315). Also, Petitioner's DNA was found in the victim at the scene. (App. 4381). Thus, even had Felder been impeached regarding the purchase of the gasoline, that impeachment would not have led to a different result in regards to his conviction in the murder of Kandee Martin.

**b. The PCR Court denial of relief on the claim that counsel was ineffective for not cross-examining Felder on the fact that he was arrested for accessory before the fact of murder was supported by the record.**

Petitioner's second assertion, that counsel was ineffective for not cross-examining Felder on the fact that he was arrested for accessory before the fact of murder, was properly denied by the PCR Court. In this claim, Petitioner asserted trial counsel was ineffective for not exposing the fact that Felder was initially arrested and charged with Accessory to Murder/Arson and Arson, Third Degree.

According to the arrest warrant affidavit, the evidence utilized to establish probable cause for the charges consisted of a statement provided by Petitioner. (App. 8975-78). According to Petitioner's statement, Gadson and Felder were the ones who shot the victim and burned the car. (See App. 975-78). After he was arrested, Felder did not give a written statement to police. Instead, he invoked his right to counsel. (App. 6711, 7837-38; see App. 8474-76). By all accounts, Felder did not have any contact with law enforcement or the solicitor's office until his attorney contacted the solicitor's office about a plea in March 2002. (See App. 9118-19, App. 7837-38, 7840-41). During June

2001, Felder was indicted for Third Degree Arson and Accessory After the Fact to the murder. (App. 9067-70).

As was correctly noted by the PCR Court, there was no evidence to support the implication that the accessory before the fact to the murder charge was reduced as a result of Felder's cooperation. In fact, the evidence clearly points to the contrary. The charge was reduced to Accessory After the Fact when Felder was indicted in June 2001. At that point, Felder had not given any statement to law enforcement other than his initial denial of all involvement. (See App. 9118-19, App. 7837-38, 7840-41, 8474-76). Had trial counsel attempted to imply that Felder's cooperation at trial was to avoid being charged with accessory before the fact, counsel would have been presenting false evidence.

Furthermore, counsel expressed a valid strategic reason for not getting into the initial charges from Felder. It was acknowledged Felder was initially charged with murder based upon a statement given to police from Petitioner. (App. 7702). Counsel noted on several occasions that he did not want any of Petitioner's statements to come into evidence. (App. 7565-68, 7639-45, 7735-36). As noted by the PCR Court, this concern was valid in light of the fact that the line of questioning could elicit a response that Felder's charge was based upon one of Petitioner's admissible statements, which were based on Petitioner's attempt to attempt to deflect suspicion from him by implicating others.

Second, trial counsel did attempt to elicit testimony from Felder regarding how much time he was facing under his plea agreement. Counsel asked Felder "[h]ave you been told a possible sentence?" (App. 4108). Felder responded, "[n]o sir." (App. 4108, 4109). At the PCR hearing, Felder testified that he was told he was facing twenty years.

(App. 6390-91). Felder further testified that he was not aware of the potential time he faced for accessory after the fact to arson. According to Felder, his attorney did not inform him of the possible maximum sentence for accessory after the fact to arson. (App. 6423). In light of the fact that counsel did attempt to show Felder was biased by asking how much time he faced, it was reasonable for the PCR Court to find counsel should not be found deficient in that regard. Counsel's pursuit of that avenue of questioning was clearly limited by the fact that Felder testified he did not know how much time he could receive.

Third, to the extent that Petitioner asserts that the State had a long-held belief that Gadson and Felder were the ones who killed the victim and burned the car, Petitioner's claim should be dismissed. Petitioner's position relies solely upon the arrest warrant affidavits. First, the arrest warrant affidavits only indicate that the State believed there was probable cause for Felder to be arrested for Accessory to Murder and Arson, Third Degree. All that means is there was evidence that aroused suspicion that he may have committed those crimes. As already noted, the only evidence the police had that indicated Felder was guilty of being an accessory before the fact and a third degree-arsonist was the statement from Petitioner. Those arrest warrants were drafted within days of the victim's body being found. (See App. 8975-78). It was very early in the investigation. Clearly, it was not a long-held belief of the State that Felder was an accessory before the fact; he was indicted for being an accessory after the fact in June 2001.

Finally, Petitioner fails to establish his ineffective assistance of counsel claim because he fails to show that he was prejudiced as a result of trial counsel not cross-

examining Felder on the earlier charges. The result at trial would not have differed but for the proposed testimony. Several witnesses, including one of Petitioner's sisters, testified they observed Petitioner threaten to kill the victim on the day of the murder. (App. 3726, 3739-3744, 3764-66). Gadson saw Petitioner shoot the victim. (App. 4000-02). According to Gadson, the victim begged Petitioner not to shoot her again, but he shot her two more times. (App. 4012). Petitioner then dragged her body into the woods. Id. Gadson later rode with Petitioner, Hiram Johnson, and Darian Williams to the Allen Murray Club in the victim's car. (App. 4018). They all wore gloves. Id. Hiram Johnson testified that Petitioner said he stole the victim's car and he made everyone wear gloves. (App. 4065). He also testified that he heard Petitioner admit to he killed the victim. (App. 4068). The victim's watch was recovered from Petitioner's pants pocket when he was arrested. (App. 4126-30; 4164-65). Petitioner's family got rid of the gun that was used in the murder. (App. 4177, 4185-86). The gun they threw in the Edisto River was conclusively matched the five of the casings at the murder scene. (App. 4315). Also, Petitioner's DNA was found in the victim at the scene. (App. 4381). Thus, even had Felder been impeached regarding his arrest for accessory before the fact and arson, third degree, it would not have resulted in a different outcome in respect to the murder conviction. This claim for relief should be dismissed.

Respondent would submit that to the extent Petitioner asserts the PCR Court erred in denying relief upon a claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to impeach Felder with his inconsistent statements made immediately prior to agreeing to testify against Petitioner was not preserved for appellate review. The same is also true for any claim that counsel failed to properly investigate any issue related to Felder's testimony. The

PCR Court did not rule upon an ineffective assistance of counsel claim regarding Gadson's inconsistent statements. Since this claim was not ruled upon in the PCR Court, it was not preserved for review for this Court. Plyler v. State, 309 S.C. 408, 424 S.E.2d 777 (1992) (issue must be both raised and ruled upon by the PCR Court to be preserved for appellate review); Rule 59(e), SCRCP (providing avenue for any party to move to alter or amend judgment); see Bostick v. Stevenson, 589 F.3d 160, 164 (4th Cir. 2009) (acknowledging same applied consistently and regularly in South Carolina after Marlar v. State, 375 S.C. 407, 653 S.E.2d 266 (2007)). Thus, to the extent Petitioner has asserted such claims, they should not be considered for certiorari.

**III. This Court should not grant certiorari upon Petitioner's third claim; the PCR Court did not err in denying relief upon the claim that trial counsel should have impeached Hiram Johnson regarding the fact that he did not mention that Petitioner confessed to killing the victim to him in a prior statement to law enforcement.**

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